THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

CLER,

Supreme Court

Supreme Court

Per Coase No: 67,528

ARTHUR NEWMAN,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF RESPONDENT SUPPORTING PETITION FOR REVIEW

On Petition for Review

RHEA P. GROSSMAN, P.A. Attorney for Respondent 2710 Douglas Road Miami, Florida 33133 (305) 448-6692

###

### INTRODUCTION AND PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is a brief in support of a Petition for Review of a Referee's Report in a Disciplinary Proceeding involving the Respondent. The Petition for Review was initiated by the Respondent (App.1).

The Complainant, THE FLORIDA BAR, will be referred to as either "THE FLORIDA BAR, "THE BAR", or "COMPLAINANT". The Respondent, ARTHUR NEWMAN, will be referred to herein as either "Respondent" or "NEWMAN".

Other parties and/or witnesses herein will be referred to by their respective surnames for clarity.

Because this is a review in a Disciplinary Proceeding, the record on appeal consists of five volumes of testimony presented to the Referee on January 23, 1986, March 21, 1986, March 22, 1986, June 19, 1986, June 20, 1986, and July 26, 1986. The pages contained in these volumes have been consecutively numbered 1-871. Respondent will refer to this record with the symbol "TR" followed by the page. (Regardless of volume).

Respondent will present an Appendix which will be designated as "App." followed by the appropriate page number.

Exhibits presented at the time of the hearing before the Referee will be referred by the numbers as orginally used by the Referee. When possible the exhibits will also be referenced to the page in the transcript of proceedings where the exhibit is identified and accepted into evidence.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

## A. Course of Proceedings and Disposition Before the Referee.

This disciplinary action commenced with the filing of a nine count Complaint by THE FLORIDA BAR against Respondent on August 22, 1985.1/ (App.15-28).

Count I alleged violations by Respondent of Disciplinary Rules 9-102(a) and 9-102(B)(3)[trust account violations during 1981 and 1982].

Count II alleges violations of Rule 11.02(4) of the Integration Rule [improper handling and misappropriation of trust funds for 1981, 1982, 1983 and part of 1984].

Count III alleges violation of Disciplinary Rule 1-102(A)(6)[for conduct adversely reflecting on the fitness to practice law because personal office checks were returned for insufficient funds in 1981 and 1982].

Count IV alleges violation of Disciplinary Rules 6-101 (a)(3), 9-102(B)(4) and 7-101(a)(1)[neglecting a legal matter and failing to pay client funds immediately and failing to seek the lawful objectives of a client].

Count V alleges a violation of Rule 11.02(4) of the Integration Rule [misappropriation of trust funds, \$900.00, in 1982].

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{1}{2}$  The Respondent will discuss the proceedings and investigation leading up to the August, 1985 Complaint in his argument set forth in Issues I and III, infra.

Count VI alleges violation of Disciplinary Rules 1-102(A)(4), 1-102(A)(6) and 7-102(A)(5) [conduct involving fraud, dishonesty and deceit reflecting on the practice of law by making a false statement in pleadings before a County Court Judge in 1983].

Count VII alleges violation of Disciplinary Rule 9-102 (a)[failing to preserve the identity of trust funds of a client].

Count VIII alleges violation of Discipinary Rule 1-102(A)(6)[conduct adverse to the fitness of practicing law by unauthorized use of "trust monies.

Count IX alleges violations of Disciplinary Rules 1-102(A)(4) and 1-102(A)(6)[conduct involving dishonesty which adversely reflects the fitness to practice law for not being truthful in response to a Bar inquiry in January of 1983].<sup>2</sup>/

Simultaneously with the filing of the Complaint, the Florida Bar sought the temporary suspension of Respondent (App. 29-40), which request was denied by this Honorable Court.

Thereafter, Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss the Complaint as it related to Counts I and II (App.41-42) and additionally filed his Answer and Affirmative Defenses to the entire Complaint (App.43-51).

Respondent realizes that it is not appropriate to argue the merits of the Complaint filed against him while setting forth the course of proceedings and disposition before the Referee; however, Respondent wants to point out to this Honorable Court that although the 14 page Complaint and all its alleged violations seems to substantiate the Referee's recommended discipline, the matters, when viewed in the light of the actual record and evidence, becomes less shameful and more in line with the everyday practice of law. Respondent is in no way making light of the matter, however, when the actual record is reviewed, it will be clear that Issue III is relevant to the determination of these proceedings.

A Referee was appointed on December 6, 1985, and proceedings commenced on December 19, 1985. The testimony of the proceedings are comprised in five volumes and over 800 The hearings concluded on July 26, 1986. On that date the Referee announced that he found the Respondent quilty on all nine counts of the Complaint (TR.700-701). On August 22, 1986, the complete transcript of all the proceedings was forwarded to the Referee. The Report of the Referee was entered on December 5, 1986 (App. 2-14). In addition to finding Respondent guilty as to all nine counts as set forth in the Complaint, the Referee found that Respondent violated each section of the Disciplinary Rules as set forth in the Complaint. The Referee concluded his Report by recommending disbarment. The Respondent contests the Referee's factual determinations as set forth in his Report<sup>3</sup>/; the recommendations of guilt based on the erroneous conclusions of fact made by the Referee; and the Referee's Recommendation as to discipline.

The Report of the Referee as filed on December 5, 1986, was considered by the Board of Governors of the Florida Bar at its meeting which ended January 16, 1987. On January 23, 1987 (Friday) a letter notifying the Supreme Court of said meeting with a copy to Respondent's counsel was mailed (App.62).

<sup>3/</sup> Respondent was so aggrieved by the factual determinations made by the Referee that Exceptions to the Report of the Referee were filed by Respondent on January 12, 1987 (App.52-61), with the Board of Governors, which, Respondent has been informed was never considered by the Review Committee prior to notifying the Supreme Court of its meeting on January 16, 1987.

The Florida Bar indicated that as of February 2, 1987 (less than five working days from receipt of said letter) a jurisdictional Petition for Review had to be filed on behalf of the Respondent since the Florida Bar would not be seeking review. 4/

Respondent timely filed his Petition for Review (App.1).

<sup>4/</sup> Although numerous calls were made to the Florida Bar as well as the Clerk of this Honorable Court, Respondent could not determine how the date of February 2, 1987 was arrived as the "deadline" for filing a Petition. The Florida Bar, however, was apprised of the interpretation of Rule 11.09(3)(a) in its handling of The Florida Bar v. Ellis Rubin, 362 So.2d 12 (Fla. 1978) at page 14, footnote 8, nevertheless, the Complainant still placed Respondent under the pressure of filing a Jurisdictional Petition within five working days.

### B. Statement of the Facts.

Although the Florida Bar has chosen to accept, in total, the Referee's Report and not file a Petition for Review (App.62), it is submitted that the acts of Respondent which are alleged to be breaches of the Rules of Discipline, whether taken individually or cumulatively, lack the critical urgency to disbar Respondent as the Referee and Complainant would have this Honorable Court believe.

At first blush, the Referee's Report would seem to indicate that Respondent actively participated in numerous violations of the Code of Professional Responsibility. However, the Complaint evolved through two (2) Complaints filed by clients; THE BAR'S own audit of Respondent's trust account from January 1981 through May, 1984; and certain office account checks returned for insufficient funds from the clerk's office between 1980 and 1982.

Respondent would like to set forth in great detail the events which transpired each day commencing on February 2, 1982, when THE FLORIDA BAR began its investigation. (TR.83-84; App. 316-317). Likewise, Respondent would like to go through all 858 pages of testimony presented to the Referee to show that there is a total lack of evidentiary support for the Referee's findings. Neither time, space nor the Rules of Appellate Procedure would permit such an extensive analysis.

The Respondent, however, will attempt to set forth the facts as supported by the record to coincide with the

chronological order of Counts I through IX of the Complaint as filed against Respondent.

On May 16, 1983, the Complainant asked for and received a certified list from the Clerk of the Circuit Court, Eleventh Judicial Circuit, indicating that between 1980 and 1982 there were approximately 15 office checks representing filing fees which were returned for insufficient funds. (R-185; App.130)<sup>5</sup>/ Respondent was notified that one of the fifteen checks was a trust account check. (R-703-706; App.131-134).

On or about May 9, 1983, Pedro Pizarro, Branch Auditor for Complainant was first contacted to begin an audit of Respondent's 1981-1983 trust records (R-191; App.135). Subsequent to the analysis of the 1981 trust account records, Mr. Pizarro then audited 1982. (R-200; App.135). The original request from Ms. Etkin was for an audit covering the years 1981 through 1983, however the auditor took it upon himself to do each year individually. (R-201; App.137).

Nevertheless, by March 7, 1983, (App.65) THE BAR knew there was no trust check violations which fact was verified by the bank on May 11, 1983 (App.71) and the Complainant withdrew any allegations concerning that one trust account check as being an error on the part of THE BAR. (R-186-188, 704; App.138-140; 141).

Respondent filed an appropriate Motion to Dismiss Counts I and II (App.63-64) on the basis that none of the seven

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{5}{}$  These allegations are the subject of Counts II and III to be later discussed. The Clerk's office <u>did</u> not initiate this Complaint.

circumstances listed in Integration Rule 11.02(c) existed which would allow for the audit for years 1981 through 1984. The Motions were similarly renewed before the Referee (R-662-663; App.144-145). An additional year (1984) was aded to the audit due to the length of the investigation.

Respondent had at all times conceded that his trust account records for 1981, 1982 and 1983 were lacking in certain specific requirements. Separate ledger cards were not kept on each trust transaction, however closing statements were in all his files and those that were reviewed by the auditor, resulted in corrections and modifications on Exhibit 73 and Exhibit 67 presented by the Complainant to the Referee. (R-360-367; App.146-152).

Count I also charges Respondent with co-mingling his trust account monies with his personal monies and not preserving all required trust account records. The Respondent, his attorney, and his accountant all endeavored to supply all trust accounting records as directed.  $\frac{6}{}$ 

Nevertheless, according to the auditor's own testimony he received nearly all of the documents needed for the audit and he made no effort to obtain the documentation that he did not receive, either by contacting Respondent, Respondent's attorney, Respondent's accountant or utilize the subpoena power of the Grievance Committee to obtain the original bank records. (R-326-332; App.153-159).

<sup>6/</sup> The constant reference to Respondent's refusal to cooperate with THE FLORIDA BAR will be discussed in Issue III, infra.

At no time did the auditor take into consideration that each one of Respondent's clients gave him permission to utilize monies held in trust for them.  $\frac{7}{}$ 

The auditor determined that Respondent's authorized use of trust monies, and his replacement of those monies was a co-mingling of funds. (R-349-360; App.160-171) Commencing in 1984 the auditor admitted that Respondent had been keeping much better trust account records although he found a technical violation relating to the ledger cards (R-135-136; App.172-173). Mr. Myron R. Kahn, a certified public accountant, testified that since July of 1984, he has established a bookkeeping system for Resondent's trust accounts which conform to the Rules of The Florida (R-778-782; App.174-178).Bar. The accountant personally keeps the trust records and performs monthly reconciliation.

Albeit, the Complainant charged Respondent with violations of trust account bookkeeping procedures which he has remedied, but the Complainant also charged Respondent with misappropriation of trust funds. Using an auditing procedure known as "negative balances" the Complainant charged Respondent in Count II of the Complaint with misappropriation of clients' funds and the Referee accepted these findings and determined that Respondent was guilty of (1) writing checks that were dishonored, (2) misappropriating clients' funds, and (3) the unauthorized utilization of clients' funds. The Complainant did stipulate that no client of Respondents ever filed a claim

This matter will be more fully developed when discussing Count II of the Complaint.

against THE FLORIDA BAR Clients' Trust Fund (R-463; App.179). Further, Respondent presented evidence that between 1981 and 1984 the following clients gave Respondent permission to utilize monies that were being held in trust and that all monies were properly accounted for and returned to the client when requested: Theodore Richardson (R-532; App.180); Lawrence Collins (R-565; App.180-A); Bernard Saheim (R-575-576; App.182-183); Barry Fulcher (R-491-493; App.184-186); Leonard S. Abrams (R-283-284; App.187188).8/

The Complainant through its auditor and exhibit 67 marked into evidence before the Referee charged Respondent with misappropriating some \$144,000.00 because of monies withdrawn from the trust account and the auditor could find no specific deposits back into the trust account. This created a "negative balance" relating to those clients. (R-391-396; App.189-194) There are no claims that any monies were stolen. App.194). Only that the auditor could not allocate specific funds deposited to the trust account to specific clients. (R-400;App. 195). However, during cross-examination, auditor did admit that using the accounting papers from Respondent's the net accountant, amount which cannot allocated to any client is a grand total of \$3,440.23; in other words, the trust account owes Respondent money (R-403; App.196). The auditor admitted that the negative balances which are the basis for the Referee's determination that Respondent

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{8}{\text{These}}$  names of clients, with addresses were given to THE BAR on July 19, 1984. (App.111-113).

misappropriated clients' funds would be changed if he were able to trace the off-setting deposits to a <u>specific</u> client. (R-523; App.197). There is no question that no client was <u>even</u> given a trust account check which was returned for insufficient funds or uncollected funds. (R-420; App.198)<sup>9</sup>/

On or about February 2, 1982, one of Respondent's clients filed a Complaint against him. 10/ The Complainant's investigator [Hayes] began his investigation. However, at that time, there were no allegations about insufficient funds or checks returned for insufficient funds relating to Respondent's trust account. In fact, the investigator Hayes did not return to speak with Respondent for more than a year after his first visit in February, 1982. (R.85; 142) It was after the second visit in 1983, that he, too, began an audit of Respondent's trust account for August 13, 1978, through September 1978 (R-85-87; App.142-143-A.11/

The nature of the Complaint concerned a settlement that Respondent obtained from Ms. Diaz in the amount of \$13000.00. \$3000.00 was paid directly to Jackson Memorial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>/ This question was asked to the auditor and he requested time to check all of his records and if he found any he would report back. This question and response took place on March 22, 1986. The auditor again testified on June 20, 1986, and made no contrary statement.

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{10}{V}/$  This Complaint is the subject matter of Counts IV, V and  $\overline{V}I$  of the Complaint.

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{11}{\text{Complaint}}$ . This trust account audit is the subject of Count V of the Complaint.

Memorial Hospital, \$3000.00 was paid to Ms. Diaz, \$5000.00 was paid to Respondent as a fee and \$2000.00 was retained by Respondent to pay any final medical bills. There was a remaining hospital bill in the approximate amount of \$1100.00. Respondent forgot about the bill until he was notified by Ms. Diaz' brother that a lawsuit was filed in the County Court against Ms. Diaz by Jackson Memorial Hospital. Ms. Diaz had already moved back to Puerto Rico, however her brother who was residing at that same address accepted service. At the time the Pretrial Conference was scheduled Mr. Newman was in Key West on a criminal matter. He forgot to attend and a default judgment was entered against Newman moved to set aside the default and Ms. Diaz. Mr. following the Rules of Civil Procedure alleged that he had a The Complainant's position has been that: meritorious defense. (1) During the period of time the Respondent was supposed to be holding the \$2000.00 in his trust account his balance went below \$2000.00 and therefore he misappropriated trust monies; (2) that he did not promptly handle a client's matters; and (3) that in stating he had a meritorious defense in his Motion to Set Aside the Judgment, he made a false statement to the County Court. (R-33-52; App.247-266).

The second Complaint by a client was filed by a bondsman who wrote a \$1000.00 bond for one of Respondent's clients. Respondent paid \$100.00 for the premium, however since his client did not have "ties to the community" he gave the bondsman a personal check in the amount of \$1000.00 (post-dated)

in order to fully protect the bondsman. Respondent's client disappeared, the bond was escreated, and the bondsman deposited the check which was returned for insufficient funds. bondsman immediately complained to THE FLORIDA BAR (that was in September of 1982). Respondent "redeemed" the check that was returned from the bank by giving the bondsman a \$1000.00 check pavable from his trust account. Subsequently made escreature was remitted. (R-148-174; App. 289-315). THE BAR charged Respondent with not placing the original monies he received from his client into his trust account although the evidence is completely devoid of any statement by anyone that the monies that were wired to Respondent as a retainer for representation of Mr. Mills was intended to be in his trust account; further that he gave a trust account check in the amount of \$1000.00 for which he did not have funds to cover said check; and third that he was untruthful to THE BAR when he explained the circumstances concerning the matter. (R-148-174; App. 289-315).

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Ιn contesting the Referee's Recommendation of Discipline, the Respondent maintains that disbarment is too harsh under the facts and circumstances of this case. dent was quilty of poor maintenance of books and records and poor policies and procedures regarding his trust account between 1981 and June of 1984. Respondent never misappropriated any clients' funds. Respondent used poor judgment in handling two clients' matters, however neither client lost money and both were satisfied with his services up to the time of the filing of the Complaint. The Respondent never engaged in fraud or dishonesty and Respondent has made every effort to correct those matters complained about relating to his trust account procedures. The severity of the recommended discipline by the Referee, as the statements of the Referee clearly indicate, can be attributed to Respondent's refusal to plead quilty, show remorse, and to satisfy the Referee's preconceived notion that Respondent was defiant and not humble and thus did not possess the character necessary to continue to practice law. See The Florida Bar v. Lipman, 497 So.2d 1165 (Fla. 1986).

Further, the Respondent rejects the Referee's findings of fact with respect to Counts I through IX and maintains that the Referee's findings of fact and the corresponding recommendations of guilt on each and every count is clearly erroneous and lacking in evidentiary support in the record. The Referee's apparent characterization of Respondent's misappropriation of trust funds is based on an accounting procedure wherein the

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