IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Supreme Control Court.

Case No. 67,528

V.

ARTHUR NEWMAN,

Respondent.

On Petition for Review of the Referee's Report in a Disciplinary Proceeding.

ANSWER BRIEF OF COMPLAINANT

PATRICIA S. ETKIN
Bar Counsel
The Florida Bar
Suite 211, Rivergate Plaza
444 Brickell Avenue
Miami, Florida 33131
(305) 377-4445

SIOYJ. WHITE

GEORGE dePOZSGAY
Co-Bar Counsel
2950 S.W. 27th Ave.
Suite 210
Miami, Florida 33133
(305) 448-2131

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar Tallahassee, Florida 32301-8226 (904) 222-5286

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Tallahassee, Florida 32301-8226 (904) 222-5286

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

Notwithstanding this position, The Florida Bar would further add that there is an inherent inconsistency between

Respondent's position that the possibility of rehabilitation should be considered by the referee in recommending discipline (RB 16) and his objection to the referee's consideration of Respondent's attitude or demeanor. It is evident that Respondent does not object to the Referee's consideration of Respondent's attitude as a factor in recommending discipline, but rather to the Referee's conclusions based upon such consideration; specifically the Referee's failure to find that Respondent has been rehabilitated or has demonstrated the possibility of rehabilitation.

Rehabilitation presumes acknowledgment of wrongdoing and initiation of corrective behavior. Possibility of rehabilitation is clearly lacking where, as in the case sub_judice, the Respondent manifests continuous denial of wrongdoing (bordering on defiance). As noted by the Referee in his comments to the Respondent:

Defiance is just reeking out of you.

(TR 828)

* * *

[T]he whole lot of areas of your life, let's say, they reek of it defiance and denial; and as a matter of fact, those habits are harder to break than an arm or a leg, really. Not until people are really inclined do they start changing their lives.

So why should I believe that all of a sudden you've seen the light when quite frankly the hearing indicates a lot of continuing denial and defiance and deep defensiveness?

(TR 830, 831)

Not only does Respondent refuse to acknowledge wrongdoing, but he has attacked the Bar for refusing to accept his explanation and agree to a plea of a private reprimand:

[Referee]: You have tried to do it your own way, you didn't get your way, so you didn't try, isn't that correct?

[Referee]: You couldn't get a private reprimand, so you said you would go to trial

(TR 829)

* * *

[Referee]: The only other thing I'm concerned with, one more thing, the just plain lack of responsibility. The counter attacks against the Bar and basically the feelings of defensiveness. Like they're in a conspiracy, out to get you. Fortunately, or unfortunately, whatever, the Bar is not on trial here today [R 838]. . . .

I'm appalled at the lack of responsibility .
. . It concerns me in the area of the fitness to
practice law;

(TR 838-839)

ISSUE II

THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT AND RECOMMENDATIONS OF GUILT AS TO ALL NINE COUNTS OF THE BAR'S COMPLAINT IS SUPPORTED BY EVIDENCE

As acknowledged by Respondent, a referee's findings and recommendations will be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without support in the record. The Florida Bar v. Marks, 492 So.2d 1327 (Fla. 1986); The Florida Bar v. Stalnaker, 485 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1986); The Florida Bar v. Price, 478 So.2d 812 (Fla. 1985). Further, it is for the referee to weigh the credibility of the witness; any conflicts in the evidence are properly resolved by the referee sitting as the finder of fact for the Supreme Court. The Florida Bar v. Lipman, 497 So.2d 1165 (Fla. 1986). The Florida Bar v. Collier, 12 FLW 142 (Sup. Ct. 67,850, March 19, 1987).

Although Respondent asserts that there is no evidentiary support for the "majority" of the findings set forth in the Referee's report (RB 25), Respondent fails to both identify the particular finding Respondent claims is erroneous and support his claim by reference to the record.

A. An audit of Respondent's trust account was justified.

The first matter raised by Respondent is whether the audit of Respondent's trust account was justified. The Florida Bar will respond to this issue notwithstanding the fact that justification for the audit has not been the subject of a specific factual finding by the Referee as reflected in his report.

Respondent's assertion that the audit of Respondent's trust account was based upon the return of a trust account check issued to the Clerk of the Court is both factually inaccurate and, even if true, is without merit since under such circumstance an audit would have been justified.

It is the Bar's position that a full Bar investigation and audit was warranted based solely upon DIAZ'S complaint to The Florida Bar alleging that Respondent's failed to satisfy her outstanding hospital bill from funds entrusted to him for that purpose (see Counts IV, V and VI of the Complaint). An investigation based upon these allegations would necessarily include review of Respondent's trust account records to determine whether Respondent handled his client's funds in accordance with the proper trust accounting procedures.

In the instant case HAYES, Staff Investigator, initiated his investigation of the DIAZ complaint in February 1983 [TR 87] with an interview of Respondent. At the initial interview Respondent was requested to furnish

"documentation" relative to checks issued in connection with his representation of DIAZ [TR 84]. This documentation was not immediately produced by Respondent [TR 85]. On February 21, 1983, Respondent advised Hayes by telephone that:

He [Respondent] was anxious to cooperate with The Florida Bar and stated money had always been available in his trust account. And at that time he did not have his trust accounts.... they were in the possession of his accountant and that he would send a letter to the accountant authorizing him to make available the necessary records . . . (Emphasis added)

(TR 85-86)

Even in his written response to the DIAZ complaint submitted to The Florida Bar, Respondent maintained that he had been holding \$2,000 from the DIAZ settlement (EX 19, attached hereto as Appendix A) and that he merely "forgot" to pay the hospital (EX 20, attached hereto as Appendix B).

In addition to DIAZ, The Florida Bar received information from other parties (SLATKO and Clerk, Dade Circuit Court) alleging conduct involving the issuance of worthless checks (See Counts VII and VIII of the Bar's Complaint). An audit of Respondent's bank and trust account was fully warranted based upon the allegations set forth in the complaints filed with The Florida Bar.

Although procedurally the Bar initially sought voluntary production of Respondent's bank records, a subpoena was subsequently issued by the grievance committee chairman to ensure Respondent's compliance. As cited but

apparently overlooked by Respondent, an audit may be conducted "when requested by a grievance committee" pursuant to article XI, Rule 11.02(4)(c)(vi), Integration Rule of The Florida Bar.

As evidenced by Respondent's correspondence to The Florida Bar in 1983 (EX 20, APP B), Respondent was apparently irked then, as he is now, by the Bar's insistence in pursuing its investigation and reviewing his records. In his testimony before the Referee Respondent confirmed that upon receipt of the subpoena, he became "livid" (TR 819). It is evident that Respondent's argument that The Florida Bar proceeded with an audit without justification is but another manifestation of Respondent's irritation with his having been the subject of a Bar investigation and audit.

B. The Bar's audit and investigation revealed evidence of misappropriation.

The Referee found Respondent guilty of misappropriation as alleged in Count II based upon the evidence revealed through the audit, to wit: issuance of trust account checks against insufficient funds, trust account checks dishonored by the bank, trust account liabilities which exceeded trust account assets and utilizing trust funds for the benefit of persons other than the particular client from whom the money was received (RR 3,4; see also auditor's report, EX 67, attached hereto as APP C).

Respondent did not present testimony of any expert witness or any evidence to refute the auditor's findings which, interestingly, were based upon the worksheets submitted to the Bar Staff Auditor by Respondent's accountants (TR 218).

In his brief, Respondent claims that there was no evidence that Respondent utilized trust monies "without the permission of each and every client," and that "each client testified that over the years permission was granted to the Respondent to utilize trust monies" (RB 27). In making these representations, however, Respondent specifically overlooks, the testimony of DIAZ and her brother, GARCIA, as well as the admissions made to the Referee by Respondent and his counsel:

[Respondent]: . . . There is no testimony, <u>aside</u> from Garcia, that someone ever said I couldn't use this money . . . (Emphasis added)

(TR 826)

(TR 826)

[Respondent's counsel]: [W]e did not deny that Mr. Newman used Garcia/Diaz' money . . . (Emphasis added)

(TR 684-685)

[Respondent's Counsel]: There is no question that Mr. Newman neglected to pay Jackson Memorial Hospital. There is no question that his trust account dipped below the amounts necessary to pay Jackson Memorial Hospital. In, as you pointed out again perceptively, again, at the conclusion of the last hearing, accurately you pointed out that you got the impression that it was a rob Peter to pay Paul type situation, except, fortunately, it didn't escalate where the house of cards collapsed.

It is obvious, I think, and reasonable for you to draw the conclusion that internal funds of my (sic) one client were utilized to pay obligations or responsibilities of another. That's how we know, for example, that the \$4,000.00 of the monies that were due Jackson Memorial were not able to be paid, which should have been. (Emphasis added)

(TR 685-686)

Moreover, as reflected in the auditor's report (Ex 67; APP C) as of May 31, 1984 Respondent's records, as reconstructed by the Staff Auditor, reflected an open balance (monies which should have been held in trust) totalling \$144,124.12 involving at least thirty-three (33) clients:

Client	Balance
Alexander, Ann	\$ 700.00
Bailey, David	482.26
Barnes, C.	836.03
Blum	.78
Chazanow	2,148.88
Dargans	5,797.05
Dean	3,046.00
Gobel, Dorothy	.86
Gonzalez, G. & B.	3,417.36
Katz	16,287.64
Mercier/Vidal	1,772.50
Miller, Donald	539.50
Mintz	1,000.00
Neil	2,000.00
Pillado	8,600.08
Redwin Ratti	122.45
Roberts, Calvin	1,200.00
Rodriguez, Ana Rogriguez, Angel	3,050.59 2,519.97
Sahien	35,932.00
Smith	194.77
Smith, Bob	5,615.00
Straud	1,015.00
Tucker, Mary	1,000.00
Vera	15,125.31
Vera-Johnson	21.69
Walton	13,200.00
White	918.00

White, E.	459.00
A.N. Trustee	4,000.00
Pamela Alexander and Faxan:	3,250.00
Lee and DIAZ	9,871.40

Total Open Balance 5-31-84 \$ 144,124.12

However, as of May 31, 1984, Respondent's trust account balance was \$2,540.84 (EX 67, APP C at 3).

Respondent did not present to the Referee testimony and evidence from each of the thirty-three clients listed above to establish both that they had authorized Respondent to use their funds and that they had been repaid. In fact, of the clients listed above, only one (SEHEIM) testified and his testimony indicated that he didn't know when he loaned Respondent money (TR 579) or have any record of financial transactions with Respondent (TR 579) or the interest rate (TR 580) and that he was repaid in check or cash from a party other than Newman (TR 583). Respondent's own testimony confirms that there is no documentary evidence to establish repayment of SAHEIM (TR 643). Such documentation, reflecting the date, source and amount of funds paid is obviously necessary to satisfy the Staff Auditor that there is no open balance remaining for the particular client in question.

In addition to SAHEIM, clients ABRAMS, FULCHER,
RICHARDSON and COLLINS testified that they had given
Respondent permission to use their funds. These witnesses,
however, could not identify with any reasonable certainty an

amount, date authorization was purportedly given to Respondent, or nature of the transaction. Moreover, as reflected in the auditor's report (EX 67, APP C at 5, 6), these witnesses all had negative trust account balances (overdisbursement). Their testimony concerning authorization purportedly given to Respondent to use their funds and Respondent's purported repayment of the borrowed funds is, therefore, not relevant to the issue of eliminating the open trust account balances since these balances pertain to funds which Respondent owes to clients.

Moreover, Respondent conveniently overlooks the fact as an attorney he may be in possession of funds for the benefit of parties other than his client. Accordingly Respondent's clients' permission to utilize funds, assuming arguendo it had been given, may be inadequate authorization. This situation may be illustrated by Respondent's representation of DIAZ wherein Respondent confirmed to the hospital, in writing, that he was aware of the hospital's lien in the amount of \$4,105.04 and was protecting same by withholding from the DIAZ's settlement a sum sufficient to satisfy the hospital lien (EX 15, attached hereto as APP D). Under these circumstances, a lienholder looks to an attorney for protection and it is unethical for an attorney to disburse the proceeds to his client, himself, or any other party, without the permission of the lienholder.

Another example is where an attorney acts as an escrow agent in connection with a real estate transaction. As an escrow agent, an attorney has an obligation to protect the funds given to him and a client's purported permission to utilize the escrowed funds is inadequate justification for his borrowing of the funds. Under such circumstances, it is unethical for an attorney to disburse the escrow funds to his client, himself, or any other party absent the consent of all parties to the transaction. In the case <u>sub judice</u>, Respondent admits that in representing RICHARDSON in a purchase of property, he utilized funds given to him as a deposit without the permission of the seller (TR 616) (see also testimony of WITHERS, seller's attorney, EX 30, at 14, 15).

The Florida Bar submits that to support a finding of misappropriation it is sufficient for the Bar to establish that Respondent's trust and bank records reflect money owed to clients in excess of funds on deposit; the evidentiary burden is on Respondent to account for these missing funds to the satisfaction of the referee. The Referee's specific findings as to misappropriation in the case <u>sub judice</u> may be construed as resolving any conflicts in testimony in favor of The Florida Bar and a rejection of the testimony of Respondent's witnesses and Respondent's position that he was authorized to use the funds of every client whose funds had been entrusted to him.

C. Respondent is unfit to practice law.

In this section as well as throughout his brief Respondent mischaracterizes the testimony and evidence presented to the Referee in a transparent attempt to trivialize his actions as being merely an oversight, technical violations or poor judgment.

First, contrary to Respondent's assertion, funds entrusted to him to pay DIAZ's hospital bill did not remain in his trust account (RB 29) until belatedly forwarded to the hospital with the remaining balance disbursed to DIAZ.

The testimony of staff investigator HAYES establishes that he examined Respondent's bank records for his trust account at Central National Bank during the period March 31, 1978 through November 24, 1980 (TR 70); that on August 8, 1978 Respondent deposited into his trust account a settlement check received on behalf of DIAZ (TR 71-72); that Respondent's bank account closed with a zero balance (TR 79); that there was no evidence of a transfer of the funds received on behalf of DIAZ to any other trust account (TR 79); that between the date of deposit of DIAZ's funds into the trust account and the date Respondent closed his account Respondent's bank account balance fell below \$4,105, (the amount of hospital lien) (TR 73; EX 11); below \$2,000 (the amount he withheld from settlement) (TR 75-77; EX 12); and below \$1105.00 (the balance owed to the hospital after

partial payment of \$3,000 had been paid) (TR 79; EX 13).

The testimony and evidence presented by the Bar clearly establish that the funds Respondent received on DIAZ's behalf was not preserved in his trust account, was not utilized for its intended purpose and therefore had been been misappropriated. The fact that Respondent paid DIAZ'S outstanding hospital bill 4 1/2 years after receipt of the funds and only after the complaint had been filed is not relevant to the Bar's allegation that Respondent improperly handled funds entrusted to him in connection with his representation of DIAZ and specifically that Respondent misappropriated these funds.

Respondent's feeble attempt to explain his failure to promptly pay DIAZ'S hospital bill as an oversight or mere "forgetfulness" when, in fact, the evidence clearly establishes that the funds had been misappropriated, is pure fantasy. Moreover, to accept the "forgetfulness fantasy", one would have to believe that Respondent suffered severe memory lapses following numerous inquiries concerning the status of payment from DIAZ, her brother and the hospital 9/

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